
UNITED l~A1.10NS 

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL 
1SIGth meeting 

Thursday1 11 July 1968 
at ,10.10 a.m~ Forty·fifth session 

OFFICIAL RECORDS 
' 

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GEl',W.VA 

---------~-,--------------------------------------------------------~---------
coNTENTs 

Agenda item 2: 
General discussion of international economic and social 

Pa~ 

pollution caused by accidents· such as the Torrey Canyon· 
disaster, HdCO was also concerned with questions of 
shipping design, the equipment of ships transporting on 
or other hazardous or noxious goods, the training ·and 
qualifications of officers· and crew and, jointly with FAO' 
and UNESCO, the scientific aspec~s of marine pollution.' 

policy (contln11ted) 
Spcakeng: 

Mr. Ooaa (IMIGO) • , ••• , • • • , ••••• 
Mt. Davies (WMO) • • • • • • . • • • . • • • 
Mr. Bbagat (ltndia) . . , . • • • • • , • 
Mr.. AJ .. Sabah (Kuwait) . • . • • • • 

' . . . . . . . 
Mr. K<>hout (Czechoslovakia) • • • .• , •. 
Mr. lo1pez (Philippines) • ·• • • , • • • . , 

29 It would be a mistake to think that the fight against' 
30 pollution was being conducted·!n a dilatory and theoreti .. 
30 cal way. It should be bol1l¢ in mind that it was never· 
32 simple to conciliate the divergent"viewpoints . of ~ large 
33 number ;of sovereign States and that, in view of the diver-· 
34 sity of the organizations and interests involved, it was 

not pcssib!e to fin~} solations to the delicate tef,";hnioa1 and 
legai problems z>Ve'rnight. The 111ain point was ,to strike -----~-------------------------------

Pn.?;~ident.· ].fr. Pi~REZ GUERRERO (Venezuela). 

1. M:r. GOAD (Secretary ... Qeneral, Inter .. Governmental 
Mtaritime Consultative Organization) said that, despite 
it~1 technical character, IMCO's report (E/4502) was of 
S()illle intere~st to u.ll States and organizations represented 
at the present session of the Council. Some of its main 
fi~atures should therefore be mentioned. · 

:2 .. Tw9 new States, Peru and Uruguay, bad become 
n1lembcrs of IMCO in 'the course of the year under review 
and others were ex~ectep to join shortly. The membership 
of'tb.e Ii\.1:CO Co:fncll and the Meritime Safety Committee 
ha.d been increased and the method of election to those 
bodies had been modified in order to enshre a ·more 
equitable dis~tibution of seats among the various regic;)ns 
of 1the worl9. ·' , ' 
3.. 011e of IMCO's main activities, the fight against 
pollution ·or the sea, had been given fresh impetus by the 
Torrey Canyon disaster in .March 1967 ~ At the technical 
level;. the IMCO Council had approved an intensified 
study programme, which was already under way, and the 
Mari1thne Safety Committee had recommended a seties 
of measures, including amendments to the 1960 Inter .. 
natio~nal Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, and 
various other steps directed towards the prevention and 
detection of oil spillage and the improved safety of 
navigation. It was also· proposed to study the possibility 
of establishing routes for merchant shipping and institut .. 
ing a number of traffic separation schemes; at an extra
ordinary session, the IMCO Assembly.would be consider"' 
ing eight proposals to that effect. On the legal side, the 
work of the Legal Committee of IMCO and the Inter
national Maritime C6'mmit~ee dealing with the aspects of 
both public and private law connec~ed with th~ Torrey 
Canyon affair were sufficiently .advanced to enable the 
extraordinary Assembly to envisage calling, in 1969, 
one or more international conferences .on those matters in 
order to draw up international conventions on, for ·exam• 
ple, the right of a coastal State to take action outside its 
territorial waters to protect its coastline and on questions 
of liability· and insurance. As part of its· fight against · 

29 

a correct balance between the satisfaction of the woda'!J 
vital material requirements and the conservation of man's 
environment. 
4. The role which fell to IN! CO in the implementatioq~ of. 
General Assembly resolutlOJlS 2172 . (XXI) and 2340 
(XXII)., concerning the explQration of .the r~sources. of 
the sea, might appear modest, but the tasks :wh_ich jt .. 
intenqed to undertake in connexion with the saf'ety and · 
s~eguarding of human Ufe would certainly prove 'to . be. 
of fundamental importi)Jlce. With regard to th~ safecy . 
of life and prhperty at . sea, IMCO · had devefoped· in~! 
conjunptiQn with FAO a number of practical safety rules 
for trawlers and :6sherillen, which, apart from their . 
hu~anit3r~an worth, were of .great importance for those 
countries' which depended Qn fish for their protein ~u~ 
plies. IMCO was also dealing with various problems. 
which though basically technical had economic implica
tions, relating mainly to the unific~tion and simplification 
of the rules governing the tonnage measurement of 
ships, the safety and related aspects of container traffic, 
the simplification of the administrative formalities and 
documents required by international shipping and the ·' 
possible use of satellites for navigation and maritime 
communications. 
5. The members of the Council would find in the)MCO 
report, paragraph 22, a review of the technical assistance . 
pro,gramme which, though modest, was"highly . useful; . 
it w_as planned, moreover~ to expand .it considerably. · 
6. It should be pointed out that, under the agreement 
concluded by IMCO with the United Nations, IMCO 
would co-operate in whatever measures might be neces ... 
sary to make co-ordination of th~ policy and activities of 
the specialized agencies and those of the United Nations, 
fully effective. The examination by the IMCO Council , 
of the report ·of the Ad Hoc Committee of Experts to. ex .. 
amine the Finances of the United Nations and the SpeciaL
ized Agencies 1 had, moreover, shown that IMCO's c()n· 
due~ was f~lly in con(ormitywith theCommittee'sfindin~s~ " 

1 Official Records o/ the Gen~raf Asse~r~bly, Twenty1;rst Session, 
Annexes, agenda item 80, document A/6g43. · 

E/SR.1536 



30 Economic and Social CouncU-Forty .. fifth session 

It went without saying that. IMCO maintained close 
relations with vat'ious other specialized agencies, partie .. 
ularly FAO, UNESCO, WHO, WMO, ILO and ICAO, 
whenever required by the problems of international 
navigation with which it was concerned. The Council 
should note the practical utility of 1M CO's work and its 
modest cost, since its annual budget was less than 
$1 million. 

7. M~r. DAVIES (Secretary .. General, World Meteorolo
gical Organization), introducing the report of WMO for 
1967 (E/4506 and Add.1 and Add.1/Corr.l), stated that 
the main decision adopte,u by the Fifth World Met~oro .. 
logiqru Congress in April1967 bad been the approval of 
the plan for a n~w world weather system called " World 
Weather Watch ". The idea stemmed directly from 
Getleral Assembly resolution 1721 (XVI) on international 
co··Qperati<>n in the peaceful uses of outer space and the 
aim was to ensure that all countries of the world benefited 
from Gcientifi.c and technical progress in the field of 
meteorology. The Fifth Congress bad also considered 
tbat the impl~mentation of a plan on the scale of ~he 
World W.;ather Watch would c:.-11 for considerable 
resources and ha4 provided for three main sout·ces of 
support: UNDP, bilateral agreements and a new pro
gramme designed specifically for the purpose-the Volun
tary Assistf\nce Progr:lmme. One of the ¥tain features of 
the ·Voluntary Aasistance Programme was that contribu
tions would consist basically of equipment and services. 
Although it had been c~tablished very recently, large 
contributions bad already\ been received or pledged by 
numerous countries, and nearly 170 project requests, 
repre~c:uting a total cost of $12 million, had been received 
frorn developing countries. The first project under the 
new programnie would shortly be . implemented and 
several other projects were likely to be launched by the 
end of 1968. 

8. Although it was difficult to assess the economic 
advantages of meteorological services in terms of civil 
aviation accidents 'avoided or human lives saved as the 
result of storm war~1ing services, it was possible to eval
uate the advantages afforded by knowledge of weather 
and climate for certain aspects of agriculture, water 
resources development, civil aviation, the construction 
industry, merchant shipping, etc. Assessment activities 
were therefore provided for ·under the World Weather 
Watch programme and had already yielded interesting 
and sometimes unexpected results. For example, several 
countries were now operating . a system of weather
routing of merchant ships at sea, which promoted savings 
in shipping costs of 5 per cent ... 10 per cent and led to a 
considerable reduction in damage .of cargo during the 
voyage. It should be stressed that the developed countries 
benefited as much as the developini. countries from those 
advantages, which in any case conveyed a better idea of 
the fields in which meteorological services could be useful 
in future. 

9. Apart from the economic benefits, World Weather 
Watch was a large-scale scientific undertaking. WMO had 
signed . an agreement with the International Council of 
Scientific Unions under which the two organizations. 

would pursue in common a world·wide atmospheric· 
research programme. . 
10. In view of the effects of weather and cllmate 011 the 
agric\,ltural production of a region, the Fifth Congress of 
WMO had decided to establish an agrometeorological 
programme to assist food production ar..d to invite the 
participation of FAO, UNESCO an4 UNDP.. Those 
three organizations had responded favourably to the 
invitation. In the field of hydrometeorology, WMO bad 
been engaged in 1967 mainly on qu~stions linked with the 
International Hydrological Decade (see E/4506/Add.l, 
para. 7 .2.5). 
11. In view of the close relationship between meteorology 
and physical oceanog·rapby, WMO was naturally .active 
in the marine sciences and had co-operated fully in the 
deliberations of the group of experts set up under General 
Assembly re~olution 2172 (XXI) to carry out a complete 
study of the activities in progress in that fieid and to 
make proposals for achieving the most effective inter .. 
national co-operation. In any case, WMO was co-ordinat
ing its activities with all those of the United Nations and 
the other specialized agencies, as appropriate. For exam
ple, it had formally decided to give every possible support 
t9 the second l Tnited Nations Development Decade by 
studying the economic advantages afforded by meteorolo
gical services and by endeavouring to ensure the full 
impiementation of the World Weather Watch programme, 
the first four .. year period of which would end in 1971, 
so that substantially improved meteorological ~nd hydro
logical serviees would be avaiiable to aid economic 
development by the time the second Decade started. 
WMO bad always co·cperatcd with the regional economic 
commissions and would continue to do so. As regards 
the co-ordination of its activities with those of the other 
speciaiized agencies, the examples were too numerous 
to mention, but it should be stressed that they included 
both substantive programmes and the use of common 
facilities of Geneva-based agencies. After examining the 
recommendations of the Ad Hoc Committee of Experts 
to Examine the Finances of the United Nations and the 
Specialized Agencies, the WMO ·Executive Committee 
had found that nineteen of the fifty-two recommendations 
either were not applicable to WMO or called for no action 
on its part, and that the other thirty-three were being 
applied either fully or to the extent that they were appro
priate to the structure ofWMO. The Executive Committee 
bad decided, however, that four of the recommendations 
should be referred to the next WMO Congress in order 
to improve their application. Finally, WMO supported 
the proposal concerning problems of the human environ
ment which the Swedish representative had made at the 
joint meetings of the Committee for Programme and 
Co-ordination and the ACC held in Bucharest in July 1968 
(see E/4557, para. 45). 

12. Mr. BHAGAT (India) said that his delegation agreed 
with the Secretary-General's view (153lst meeting) that 
the Council should begin its work by asking whether 
there had not been a retreat from the high ideals of the 
post-war years. The ' last twenty years constituted an 
important page in the history of modern times. They 
had been characterized by the unparalielled growth of 



------------------------~~--.--~l_S~ __ m_~--~--l_l_J_~~y-1_~ ________________________________ 3_1 

the world economy as a whole, bringing unprecedented 
prosperity to a large number of countries and opening 
up immense oppottunities for the well-being of all the 
countries of the world. Unfortunately, despite the efforts 
of t~e international community, the underprivileged parts 
of the world had not benefited sufficiently from that 
general development. The gulf between the rich and poor 
countries continued to widen, and today, peace and prog .. 
ress were in even greater jeopardy than they had been 
twenty years earlier. 
13. One of the important advances made in the last two 
decades had undoubtedly been that countries had learned 
to subordinate their national decisions to the implications 
they might have for other countries and the world as a 
whole. That was a development of which the Council, 
the United Nations and the international community as 
a whole could legitimately be proud; however, it wou1d 
seem that even that progress was threatened. The World 
Economic Survey, 1967 (Part I, B/4488 and Add.l-5) 
made repeated reference to the introspec&ive mood of 
some developed countries. That tendency retarded the 
achievement of th~ 1 per cent target for the transfer of 
financial resources from the developed to the developing 
countries, and led to further aid-tying and a host of other 
measures, which had resulted, inter alia, in the slowing 
down of the growth of the export earnings of the develop
ing countries in 1967. The paralysing effects of that 
attitude had been apparent at the second session of 
UNCTAD. The Conference had not led to the expected 
results, becau~le the industrial countries had been unwilling 
to enter into commitments in regard to trade and aid. 
Nevertheless, it had several achievements to its credit. 
A modest plan of action had been worked out, without 
any firm commitments, in regard to commodities, aneta 
programme of work agr~d for the formulation and mlple
mentation of a generalized ~~heme of preferences. A fairly 
broad measure of agreement had also been reached -t;n 
the concerted measures to be taken for the:: expansion of 
trade among the developing countries, the promotion of 
East-West trade, and trade between the socialist countries 
and the developing countries, with a view to solving the 
food problem and favouring the less-developed of the 
developing countries, including the land-locked countries. 

14. On the other hand, the achievements of the Confer
ence in the :field of d6velopment finance and aid had 
been ve1·y disappointing in every respect. At its forty-first 
session,. the Council had adopted an extremely compre
hensive resolution on the flow of external resources to 
the developing countries (resolution 1183 (XLI)); since 
that time, the situation regarding external aid had ste~dily 
worsened. Contribution pledges for IDA had amounted 
to only $400 million, as against a target of $1,000 million, 
UNDP pledges amounted so far to only S 180 million, as 
against a target of $285 million, and WFP pledges 
amounted to $160 million, as against a target of $200 mil
lion. Further, according to the World Economic Survey, 
the 'balance-of:Opayments difficulties of the developed 
countries would continue for some time yet. His delega· 
tion did not share that view. It agreed with the eminent 
economists from both the developed and developing 
countries who were members of the Committee for De
velopment Planning that the developed countries had 

allowed themselves to be unduly influenced by their 
international liquidity problems and by their budgetary 
and balance-of-payments difficulties. It was to be hoped 
that the policy-makers of the developed countries would 
take account of the unanimous view of those economists 
when formulating their aid policies. 
15. Some developed countries. bad undeniably adopted 
constructive measures. Not oqJy had tliey announced a 
definite thnetable for accelerating the :flow of assistance, 
but they had also agreed , to fix separate ta~ts for 
official md and make provision for the future incre'ase of 
their transfers of resources to the develQpil)Jl-::~untries. 
They had given proof of their farsightedness by refusing 
to allow their short-term difficulties to eclipse the long
term objectives of international economic co-c1peration~ 

16. In the view of his delegation, the Council should 
take stock of the whole situation and give further direc
tives with a view, inter alia, to protecting the uninter
rupted flow of finanpial assistance from the vicissitudes 
caused by the payments difficulties of the developed 
countries, ensuring that the developed countries facing 
payments or other difficulties did not take any measul'es 
that would jeopardize the development of the developing 
countries, fixing development aid targets in such a way 
as to give donor countries a rough idea of actual costs, 
generalizing the practice of increasing the rate of financial 
flow on a long-term basis so as to ensure the ~ontinuity 
of aid and impart a time dimension to the aid target, 
ensuring that the international agencies concerned con
tinued and intensified their activities through the provi .. 
sion of appropriate resources, and lastly, taking measures 
for the ear1iest possible uptying of aid. 
17. With reference to aid:-tying, his delegation was per
turbed by the fact that some countries had gone so far as 
to tie practically all the aid' given by them. Another 
reason for concern was that the practice was being 
extended ·to contributions to international agen<tJes. 

18. With regard to the question of preparations for the 
period following the current Development Decade, the 
acute problems raised by development demanded a co~ 
centrated effort to telescope several centuries into a 
period of one or two decades. The Development Decade 
which was soon· to end had disappointed the hopes placed 
in it. Preparations were already being made for the second 
Development Decade, but that should not lead to a 
slackening of effort during the last two years of the present 
Decade. The Committee for Development Planning had 
certainly done important work at the technical level 
(see B/4515, paras. 100-106), but his delegation was 
concerned by the fact that the Committee was proceeding 
on the assumption that the next Development Decade 
would not begin until 1971, instead of 1970, so that an 
additional year· of indecision was to be feared. Further, 
agreement must be reached on the measures to be adopted 
for achieving the goals and o~jectives set, and commit
ments must be . ~ntered into for implementing those 
measures. The Secretary-General of UNCTAD (l535th 
meeting) and the Committee for Development Planning 
had emphasized that the goals and objectives fixed for 
the next Decade would have no meaning unless parallel 
measures were taken to improve substantially th¥ndi-

( 
I 
\,1 



31 

tions of external trade and aid for the developing coun .. 
tries. Since the Committee for Development Planning 
would not have a great role to play in the preparation of 
agtipemerits on positive measures, the Council should 
CO~Sidet the possibility of e$tablishing an inter-sessional 
ntachinery for studying that' important aspect of the 

·international strategy for development. If work began 
without delay, his delegation was convinced that a prelim .. 
inary draft could be studied at the twenty .. third session of 
the General Assembly, and that a final version might be 
adopted, together with the document being prepared by 
the Committee for Development Planning, at the'lwenty-
fourth session. 11 

19. The Secretary-General had drawn the Couucil's atten
tion io the urgent need to examine the activities and 
functioning of the United Nations institutional system. 
His delegation attached ,-;onsiderable importance to that 
question, particularly with regard to co-ordination. At 
the second session ofUNCTAD, his delegation, in agree
ment with the Chilean delegation, had submitted a pro
posal for a review of the UNCTAD machinery and 
methods of work. His delegation was glad to see that that 
proposal had aroused interest. Some encouraging meas
ures had already been taken within the framework of the 
United Nations. In particular, progress had been made 
in integrating the field services of the specialized and other 
executing agencies with the officea of the Resident 
Representatives of UNDP and the regional economic 
commissions. . 
20. On the ~ubject of multilateral food aid, he was glad 
to see that food aid was no longer regarded as an emer
gency measure or as a means for the donor countries to 
get rid of unexpected surpluses. The Secretary-General's 
report on that question (E/4538) drew attention to the 
substantial improvement in the world food situation 
thanks to the good harvests obtained in 1967/68. India 
had arrived at a turning point in its progress towards 
~11f ... sufficiency in the production of food and fibre. In 
1967, the production of food grains had reached the 
record level of 95 million tons. That excellent result 
had been due not only to .the favourable weather condi
tions, but also to the vigorous policy pursued by the 
Government, which had introduced new varieties of seed 
and made the necessary inputs available to the farmers. 
As a result of those measures, India hoped to achieve 
self-sufficiency in its agricultural production by 1970/71. 
Of course, as the Secretary-General had pointed out, 
considerable additional investment would be required 
for the handling, storage, transport and processing of that 
extra production and for its distribution to more distant 
markets. Considerable investment would also be required 
in other complementary industries, such as the fertilizer 
and hydro-electric industries, which had a bearing on 
food production. 

21. The food problem, and (or that matter the general 
problem of economic development, could not be disso
ciated from the population problem. Control of popula
qon and an increase in food production constitq.ted the 
two prongs of an attack on the hunger problem-one 
from the demand side and the other from the supply side. 

22. With regard to the development of human resources, 
his delegation considered tkat eftbrts. should be concen
trated in areas where quick results could be obtained, ;.e. 
population control, ed.ucation and employment, voca· 
tional training, health, a.nd. transport and commanica
tions, all of which had a great influence on the develop .. 
ment of human resources. 
23. Moreover;~e aspirations of youth, which was every
where restive and impatient, should not be ignored. The 
development process, with its increased facilities in 
respect of education and teehnical training for the rising 
generations, gave birth to new aspirations. 
24. India had always maintained that each country should 
assume the main responsibility for its own development; 
ever since it had achieved independence, it had sought 
to diminish its dependence on 6ther countries and to make 
the Indian economy increasingly self-sufficient. That had 
not prevented it from respecting the principle of inter
national co-operation and India had. always been ready 
to discharge its obligations to other countries; at the 
regional level it was participating in the endeavours of 
developing countries of the ECAFE region. Bilateral 
technical and economic co .. operation agreements e1Jsted 
with several African and Asian countrie~. At the inter .. 
continental level, agre~ments on trade expansion and. 
economic co-operation had been signed wlth Yugoslavia 
and the United Arab Republic. 

/ 

25. In conclusion1 his delegation hoped that the construc
tive ideas put forward at the second session of UNCTAD 
would lead to renewed efforts in that body and other 
United Nations organs, with a view to the solution of 
outstanding problems. 

! 

26. Mr. AL-SABAH (Kuwait) observed that the Council 
was being asked more and more to take decisions con .. 
cerning the preparation and implementation of an over
all policy in the economic and social field. That was a 
confirmation of its original purpose and of its major role 
in co-ordinating the ever-increasing activity of the various 
specialized agencies and other L.'lternational organizations. 
Such a tremendous task required the sincere co·operation 
of all members of the Council. 
27. The resUlts of the Development Decade now drawing 
to a close had been most disappointing. The agreements 
signed after the Kennedy Round had scarcely altered the 
precarious conditi.ons in which the trade of the develop .. 
ing countries was conducted. UNDP had not fulfilled the 
hopes which had been placed in it. The economic condi
tions currently prevailing in the world were by no means 
encouraging. The economic difficulties which beset the 
developed countries and which at the same time were a 
threat to the poorer countries were discouraging. 
28. The preparation of the second Development Decade 
made it necessary to evaluate what had been achieved 
and to study future projects in a rational manner. So far j 
the industrialized countries had not heeded General 
Assembly resolution 1522 (XV) concerning an accelerated 
flow of capital and technical assistance to the developing 
countries. Consequently, international aid had not been 
able to meet the needs or the absorption capacity of those 
countries, Were the developing countries.expected to rely 



~~ ~-11 July 1968 33 
------~------------------------------~-----------------------------·~-------

solely on their own resources? A developing country 
co1LJ1d hardly rely on. national. ·savings; the standard of 
JiV.ing of the people being barely above the subsistance 
lev'el, such savings were non-existent. Export earnings 
wer<; inadequate and had to be supplemented by a sub
stantial contribution from external sources. Not only 
was the aid granted inadequate, but the conditions e,ttached 
were on the whole very stringent. Aid should be granted 
without strings, interest ·raws should oo reduced and 
repayment spread over a longer period. Kuwait, although 
not sufficiently developed to rank as an industrialized 
C\?untry, had nevertheless granted aid and loans without 
any political or other conditi{lns to a number of neigh
bouring friendly countries, the sole criterion being the 
need of the t'ecipient country and the potential contribu
tion of the project jn question to its economic &~velop
ment. Ou. the whole the terms of loans granted by Kuwait 
wei'e very flexible, with instalments spread over a long 
period, favont.able conditions fot repayment and some 
scope for revision of the' infere~ rate. 1

, 

, 'I ' 

29. With reference to the payments difficulties of the 
developed countries, Kuwait considered inflationary 
pressure to b~ disturbing, but not sufficiently serious to 
prevent the developed countries from continl.ling to 
assist the countries neediug aid. The difficulties which 
the developing countries were experiencing were largely 
due to the J::ost,of their ambitious armament programmes. 
The Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear Weapons 
might prove a deCASi'!e turning poifit if it was backed up 
by effective steps to stop the nuclear arms race and to 
achieve nuclear d.isarm.~ment itself and if it was followed 
up by a treaty for general and complete disarmament. 
The dev~loped countries should seriously · consider 
allocating a substantial proportion of the money made 
available by disarmament for aid to the economic and 
social development of the poorer countries. It must be 
remembered that poverty was as serious a threat to world 
peace and stability as the arms race itself. Only concerted 
action on the part of the developed and developing 
countries to secure better distribution of trade opportu
nities could provide a solution for most of the great 
world problems. , 
30. The increase in the national income of the developing 
countries in the first De~de had not reached the annual 
rate of S per cent ~;rhich had been envisaged as the 
minimum target; in anY,, case, even if that target had been 
reached, population growth would probably have can
celled out all efforts to raise the standard of living in the 
poorer countries. That was a serious danger, and birth 
control should be regarded as the only solution to the 
problem. 
31. Again, nothing had been done so far to improve the 
terms of trade. The lack of diversification in the develop
ing countries '/;exports made them dangerously sensitive 
to 'price fluctuation in commodity markets. Instability 
in the volume or foreign currency earnings of their 
exports could affect their balance of payments and 
jeopardize their development projects. Some developed 
couhtries had shown a tendency to protectionism and 
isolationism. Such policies were bound to have disastrous 
results. 

32. The twentieth century was at grips with the problem 
of development and the utilization of naturru and human 
resources. To facilitate a solution of the problem, a cbngc 
of attitude itt education was needed; education s~ould. no 
longer be designed for the elite but should endeavour to 
meet the utgent vital requb ements of the developing 
countries. The need for technical training had been recos· 
nized. All the developing countri~s lacked experts and 
qualified specialists. The training of workers~ should bo 
geared to the specific needs of agricultural an:d industri@.l 
communities. It was encouraging to see that the United 
Nations had reached the operational stag~ in that field, 
There were now agencies with suitable structures in the 
field of education, training and the rational use of human 
resources$ Since industrial production depended greatly on 
the progress of science and technology, tlJ.e developing 
countries must, art the one hand, learn to develop their 
own techniques and, on the other, a~uir~ the available 
technical know .. how and adapt it to their own require· 
ments. UNIDO could play a decisive part there by 
keeping the dev~loping , countries infor:tned about th~ 
most re;ren.t and efficient inventions and techniques. He 
was gl(. · ~hat the United Nations and the \ .. spccialized 
agencies" .J~,re sparing no effort to promote hllm.an pro· 
gress, but the attitudes of Governments and public opinion 
must be ~hanged. Man should not remain indiffere11t to 
the stdfering of his fellows. He must acquire an awareness 
of collectiye responsibility. Ultimately the problem was 
a moral and human one. 

33. Mr. K.OHOU1 ' (Czec;hoslovakia) ,Stressed the com· 
plex nature of dr~velopment, in which not only economic, 
but also social, hlll11anitarian and political factors played 
a part, and emphasized that all regions of the world 
should be partners in the venture. To speak of the world 
~s ~vi<Lrd il}~o two major poups, ~he ~~tp.y countries 
m tne north and the vPOr copntnes m~ ',fhe south was 
obvkrt.::Sly to recognize ·a 'distressing reality; however, the 
picture should not be over-simplified. Due regard must be 
paid to the exist~nce of different social systems and to the 
need to tackle economic: art1,;. social problems in all their 
complexity and'· \l'ariety. A naive division of th~. world 
into two groups was likely to turn development aid into 
a mere act of charity accompanied by ~-tague and unrealis-
tic declarations. · · 

·:2-J, •-;1·,~: ~!, 

34. Czechoslovakia had in the past ft~qt.tently streSsed 
the importan'7 of t~e socia! aspect • of dfVel?pment;., it 
had done so m vartous Umted Nations oodles, partic
ularly the CQmmission for Social Development. Con~ 
·quently, his delegation welcomed the favourable tren4 
which had been evident in social affairs in recent yea.rst
in particular the progress achieved in drafting tba:: declarll'"' 
tion on social development, which was to be considered 
at the twenty-third session of the General Assembly. 

35. The Council should conf 0ue to stress the human 
factor in the process of econollllc and social development; 
efforts should be made to get rid of old social and econo
mic structures when they hindered development. while 
avoiding too sudden a disruption of traditional ways of 
life, thought and behaviour~ 



Economic and Soda! Council-Forty-fifth $e$$ion 

36. As President of the Trade and Development Board, 
he could not agree with some commentators who argued 
that the $econd session of UNCTAD at New Delhi had 
been a failure. The formulation Qf new principles to govern 
international trade and the tJ:aiislation of such principles 
into reality was a long-term operation. Czechoslovakia 
was optimistic in that respect; experience had taught it 
that in sofue fields economic and trade co-operation with 
the developing. countries was perfectly compatible with 
its own interests. It was not enough to eliminate the 
fiarriers to the developing countries' exports, which was 
the. purpose of most of the measures so far proposed by 
UNCTAD; positive action for economic co-operation 
must also be taken. 

37. Like the New Delhi' Conference, the International 
Conference qn Human Rights, held at TeTir.eran, had also 
been the subject of pessimistic commentary. It had been 
pointed out that despite statements by Governments 
very few countries had ratified the two Covenants and the 
other intern(tional conventions on human rights.' The 
Teheran Conference had also shown ll.P the sad reality 
of the human rights position in a number of countries, 
where gross violations of· human rights due to national 
hatred, racial discrimination, colonialism, aggression and 
armed conffict were occurring. Apart from those flagrant 
infringements of fundamental rights, a nuniber of crucial 
problems in modern society itself remained unsolved. 
Tht7\ Director-.General of UNESCO in his statement at 
the 1534th meeting had focused attention on those 
problems. 

38. Czechoslovakia, foli its part, had just introduced a 
number of laws and measures designed to protect the 
fundamental liberties and rights of its citizens. Its aim 
was 'to marry scientific and technical progress to democ
racy and humanism vlithin the framework of a socialist 
society. In its foreign policy it was guided by the parallel 
principles of international co-operation and non-inter-
vention. ·· 

39. Czechoslovakia was endeavouring to achieve greater 
participation by its economy in the international division 
of labour so as to be able to meet the needs,l'f developing 
countries. However, it was. only a country of 14 million 
people, and it could not increase its aid to the developing 
countries in the near future; he would point out that the 
volume of such aid was already very considerable in 
relation to that supplied by countries of comp~able 
sizey as was shown by the informati9n in document 
E/4495 (Secretary-General's report on the international 
:l:low of capital and assistance )w 

40. Czechoslovakia considered that in the continent of 
Europe there were good prospects for co-operation 
between nations in the economic, cUltural, scientific 
and technical fields. ECE had an important part to play 
in making the most of such opportunities; in that con
nexion he regretted that the German Democratic Repub• 
lic was unable to participate with full rights in the 
Commission's work. 

41. With reference to the relations between Czecho
slovakia and the developing countries, he noted a 
dynamic development in trade. In 1966 :finished and 

semi-finished products had accounted for 14 per cent of 
the total vol1Ime of Czechoslovakia ,s imports from 
developing countries, as compared with only 1 per cent 
in 1963. Furthermore, more than 50 per cent of Czecho
slovak exports to those countries consisted of machinery 
and equipment, showing that .its trade policy sought to 
encourage the developing countries' drive for industrial .. 
ization; Czechoslovakia had granted those countries long
term ~redits totalling S400 million between 1964 and 
1967. In addition, it had so far granted other socialist 
countries long-term credits totalling $1,500 million. The 
structural changes which Czechoslovakia was now making 
in its economy so as to integrate it more fully into the 
international division of labour could only strengthen 
that position. Already its participation in multilateral 
programmes of United Nations bodies had increased; in 
particular, its contributions to UNDP and UNIDO had 
increased substantially. 

42. In conclusion, he hoped that the positive prospects 
for development afforded by international co-operation 
based on equality and mutual respect would not be 
jeopardized by acts of aggression such as were being 
perpetrated in Viet-Nam and by the use of force in inter .. 
national relations. 

43. Mr. LOPEZ (Philippines) said that his statement 
would relate solely to the second United Nations Develop
ment Decade. 

44. In his opening statement, the Secretary-General, 
echoing the conclusions of the Secretary-General of 
UNCI'AD, h~d said that the outcome of the New Delhi 
Conference augured ill for the success of the second 
Decade. Appealing for more effective concerted action, 
the Secretary-General had expressed the fear that failure 
to act would cause violence. He himself shared that view 
and that apprehension. It was clear that the poor nations 
were too weak to threaten the prosperous countries 
directly, but a climate of indifference between nations 
could destroy human dignity and compassion, which were 
the very bases of civilization. Poverty and misery posed 
a serious threat to prosperity everyWhere. 

45. To avoid that danger, the developing countries 
themselves should first of all face up to their responsibili
ties; Four-fifths of the development cost should be 
borne by domestic financing. The developing countries 
should mobilize their own resources. The target of an 
annual growth rate of 5 per cent in the gross national 
product set in the first Decade was insufficient; his delega
tion agreed with the view of the Under-Secretary-General 
for Economic and Social Affairs that the figure should 
be raised to at least 6 per cent or 7 per cent during the 
second Decade. It might be better, moreover, to have 
a growth rate target which was not uniform and which 
reflected the different resources, stages of development, 
and conditions obtaining in the various countries and 
regions. 

46. Agriculture should have the highest priority in the 
next Decade. In that connexion~ he welcomed the spectac
ular progress made possible by the introduction of new 
varieties of rice, wheat and maize. Owing to the introduc
tion of a high-yield variety of rice, the Philippines, a 



22

l536tb meetiog-11 July 1968 35 ----------------------------------
traditionally importing country for the past half-century, 
already expected to export about 50,000 tons of rice in 
1968, rising perhaps to 300,000 tons in 1970. 

47. However, that did not mean that industry should be 
neglected. A special effort, moreover, would have to be 
made in education; it was regrettable that the developing 
countries themselves had in the course of the last decade · 
over-emphasized economic development at the expense 
of the development of human resources and social 
progress. Furthermore, far-reaching changes would have 
to be made in political and administrative structures. 

48. The developing countries therefore had a hard task 
ahead of them. However, the objectives of the second 
Decade could not be achieved without adequate aid from 
the developed countries, which would have to do more 
than in the past. It was estimated that they spent $175,000 
million on arms every year. Could they not allocate a 
tenth of that sum to foreign aid? At New Delhi, they had 
agreed, after arduous negotiations, to step up their aid 
to 1 per cent of their gross national product. It was vital 
that that figure should be reached as soon as possible, 
and at the latest by 1972. Moreover, the developed coun" 
tries should lighten the debt-servicing burden on the 
developing countries and abandon the practice of tied 
aid, the effect of which at present was to reduce by 15 per 
cent-20 per cent the amount of foreign aid which the 
developing countries could actually use. The socialist 
countries, for their part, should not argue, as they had 
done at New Delhi, that they were not bound to incre~1se 
their aid because they had no colonial history. That 
argument had little or no relevance in today' s framework 
of international co-operation for economic development. 

49. From the standpoint of multilateral arrangements, 
international bodies such as IBRD, UNDP and the various 
specialized agencies concerned should be used to a greater 
extent as sources of funds and loans. Regional activity 
should also be intensified, for which purpose the devel
oped countries should lend all possible assistance to 
the regional development banks and other credit institu-

Printed in Belgium 

tions. In that respect, he welcomed the proposal of the 
Director-General of FAO (1532nd meeting) to harmonize 
the regional activities of FAO with those of the regional 
economic commissions; UNIDO and UNCTAD in 
particular could follow that example. Finally, inter
national co-operation in trade called for the establishment 
of a general system of tariff preferences and the stabiliza
tion of commodity prices. 

50. Turning to the crucial question of population growth, 
he pointed out that, according to the figures quoted by the 
Secretary-General, the world population was increasing 
by 54 million each year, which would mean a total of 
1,000 million people over the next fifteen years. The 
Philippines, which was one of the thirty signatories of 
the Declaration on Population by World Leaders (see 
E/4551, annex 1), hoped that the family planning drive 
launched by WHO, UNICEF, the ILO,FAO and UNESCO 
would be intensified. The important thing was to inform · 
the public, without encroaching upon individual liberty 
of conscience. 

51. Generally speaking, public opinion should be mobil
ized to support the objectives of the second Decade. 
Fortunately, a certain measure of agreement appeared to 
have been reached on the priorities and policies of the 
second Decade. At its third session recently held in Addis 
Ababa, the Committee for Development Planning had 
drawn up certain tentative guidelines and proposals, and 
his delegation eagerly awaited the report of its working 
group, which would map out a preliminary sketch of the 
international development strategy for the 1970s. 
Furthermore, the joint meetings· of the ACC and the 
Committee for Programme and Co-operation had resulted 
in a fruitful dialogue. It seemed clear that, in the yea)."s 
to come, such joint meetings would make it possible to 
simplify co-ordination within. the United Nations family 
by eliminating unnecessary committees and organs, thus 
restoring to the Council the essential supervisory role 
entrusted to it under the Charter. 

The meeting rose at 12.50 p.m. 

04072-September 1968-1,500 




